INTRODUCTION 

After Appellant Joel Johnson's home was destroyed by a fire, two 

separate insurance companies had a duty to repair his house. Both insurers 

wrongfully refused payments for two full years. Notwithstanding this 

wrongful conduct, the trial court erroneously ruled that Johnson had no 

remedy against either of his insurers. 

On the night of the fire, Safeco denied coverage to Johnson 

because his mortgage company, Taylor Bean & Whitaker (Taylor Bean) 

had wrongfully stopped payment on a premium check it had sent to Safeco 

that was intended to pay Johnson's insurance premium with funds from 

his escrow account. But Safeco' s denial of coverage was also wrongful 

because it did not actually cancel Johnson's insurance contract prior to the 

fire. Safeco never sent an explicit cancellation notice to Johnson. 

Moreover, while Safeco sent Taylor Bean a cancellation notice, the 

specified cancellation date was not until after the fire. Under Washington 

law, the cancellation of an insurance policy is not effective unless both the 

insured and the mortgage company are notified of the cancellation date so 

that they can correct the problem. Disregarding this well-established rule 

of Washington law, the trial court dismissed Johnson's claims against 

Safeco on a motion for summary judgment, ruling that Taylor Bean should 

bear responsibility instead of Safeco. 
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Because Safeco asserted its policy was not effective, Taylor Bean 

charged Johnson for its "force-placed" insurance policy contract with 

Mount Vernon Fire Insurance Co. ("Mount Vernon"). The force-placed 

policy provided coverage to homeowners, like Johnson, whose mortgages 

were held by Taylor Bean. 

It is undisputed that Mount Vernon was obligated to provide 

coverage to Johnson for his fire damage. But for nine months, Mount 

Vernon refused to pay Johnson any money at all to repair his house. 

Mount Vernon also refused to pay Johnson money for his additional living 

expenses (ALE) and misrepresented to him the criteria for recovering 

those expenses. Mount Vernon had approved of him moving into his own 

rental property after the fire, but it later denied coverage for the cost of 

living in his rental property. 

Johnson was 58 years of age and his financial situation became 

increasingly desperate due to Mount Vernon's refusal to pay what it owed. 

In order to survive, he exhausted his retirement account and received 

government assistance for food. 

Then, about 10 months after the fire, in an act of desperation 

caused by Mount Vernon's refusal to pay what it owed, Johnson fabricated 

a written lease to prove he had renters. It is undisputed that those renters 

existed and had an oral lease with Johnson. Further, Johnson fabricated the 
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written lease only because of Mount Vernon's false statements that he 

could not be paid for his ALE because he could not provide a written 

record of his renters. Finally, although Mount Vernon received the written 

lease, it did not rely on it and Mount Vernon was not prejudiced in any 

way by Johnson's misrepresentation. 

On a CR 50 motion, the trial court dismissed Johnson's extra

contractual claims of bad faith and violation of the Consumer Protection 

Act (CPA) against Mount Vernon. This ruling was based on the trial 

court's erroneous interpretation of Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Cox, 110 

Wn.2d 643, 757 P.2d 499 (1988), which barred legal action by an insured 

who had submitted a fraudulent insurance claim. But no appellate court 

has ever interpreted Cox to bar a legal action for insurer bad faith that 

preceded an insured's misrepresentation. To the contrary, statements by 

this Court and the Washington Supreme Court have clarified that Cox does 

not bar a legal action when the bad faith or violation of the CPA precedes 

the insured's misrepresentation. 

Because there is no dispute in this case that Johnson's desperate 

misrepresentation of his lease occurred long after Mount Vernon violated 

the Consumer Protection Act and engaged in bad faith conduct, the trial 

court's directed verdict against Johnson should be reversed and this case 

should be remanded for trial. Because Safeco did not properly cancel the 
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policy prior to the fire under Washington law, the trial court's summary 

judgment dismissal of Johnson's claims against Safeco was also error. 

That dismissal should be reversed and Johnson's claims against Safeco 

should also be reinstated and allowed to proceed. 

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The Superior Court erred in dismissing all claims against 
Safeco by ruling that Safeco was not obligated to provide a 
notice of cancellation and that the insurance policy contract 
was not in effect at the time of the fire. 

2. The Superior Court erred in dismissing Johnson's CPA and 
bad faith claims against Mount Vernon by ruling that 
Johnson's misrepresentation retroactively absolved Mount 
Vernon of CPA violations and bad faith conduct preceding 
Johnson's misrepresentation. 

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

This appeal raises the following questions of law: 

1. Where an insurer issues a renewal insurance policy contract 
and delivers it to the customer, and where the insurer receives 
a check for the premium in response to the renewal contract, 
but where that check was later inexplicably stopped by the 
customer's mortgage company, is the insurer required to 
provide notice before cancelling the policy? 

2. When an insurer breaches its duty of good faith, violates the 
CPA and injures the plaintiff insured, but 10 months later the 
plaintiff insured makes a material misrepresentation, is the 
plaintiff insured retroactively barred from any remedy for the 
violations that preceded the misrepresentation? 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Safeco Returns Johnson's Premium Payment, But Fails to 
Cancel Johnson's Policy Prior to His Fire 

Johnson owned his house for 25 years prior to the fire. CP 118 at ~ 

3. He had a homeowner's insurance contract with Safeco for everyone of 

those years. CP 118 at ~ 3. In 2008, Johnson refinanced his mortgage with 

Taylor Bean. CP 118 at ~ 4. Taylor Bean required Johnson to pay his 

insurance premium into an escrow account so that Taylor Bean could 

ensure he was at all times current with his premium payments to Safeco. 

CP 118 at ~ 4. 

On September 28, 2008 Safeco issued and mailed to Johnson a 

renewal policy. CP 41 at ~ 2; CP 46-52. Taylor Bean was also sent a copy 

of the renewal policy. CP 41 at ~ 2. In response, Taylor Bean sent Safeco 

payment of $630 for the policy premium on behalf of Johnson. CP 113. 

This was part of a bulk payment check from Taylor Bean to Safeco for all 

of the policy premiums that Taylor Bean was responsible for paying. CP 

116. For an unknown reason, that batch payment check was stopped 

before the funds were transferred to Safeco. Id. 

Safeco received the batch payment check, but when the payment was 

stopped Safeco returned the check to Taylor Bean. CP 113. Safeco did not 

notify Taylor Bean of the payment error or request another check. See CP 
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41-43. Instead, Safeco sent Johnson a letter notifying him that it had not 

received payment from him and his policy would not be renewed if he did 

not send payment by January 5, 2009. CP 54. Johnson never saw that letter. 

CP 118 at ~ 5. 

Safeco's policy required it to provide notice to Taylor Bean prior to 

cancellation or nonrenewal. The policy provided that "[i]f the policy is 

cancelled or not renewed by us, the mortgagee will be notified at least 20 

days before the date cancellation or nonrenewal takes effect." CP 50 at 12.d 

(emphasis added). 

On January 11, 2009, Safeco sent Taylor Bean a "Notice of 

Cancellation." CP 58. That notice stated the cancellation date was 

February 5, 2009. CP 58. On January 25, 2009, which was 11 days prior to 

the cancellation date, Johnson's house was destroyed by a fire. CP 117. 

B. Sa/eco Denies Coverage when Johnson's Home is Destroyed 
in a Devastating Accidental Fire 

In the middle of the night on January 25, 2009, Johnson's chimney 

caught fire when it overheated due to a hidden accumulation of creosote. CP 

117, 323 at ~ 2. The fire spread through the rest of his home and destroyed it. 

CP 323 at ~ 2. Johnson might not have escaped dying in the fire but for the 

assistance of his neighbor. CP 1989 at line 1; see also CP 2021. Johnson was 

diagnosed with symptoms of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) as a 
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result of his brush with death. CP 2021. 

The fire marshal concluded the fire was accidental; Mount Vernon's 

investigation confirmed this. CP 323 at,-r 2. 

Johnson contacted Safeco for help immediately after the fire. CP 43 

at,-r 8 and CP 2021. Safeco erroneously told him that his renewal policy had 

been cancelled and there was no coverage. CP 43 at,-r 8 and CP 2021. 

This purported lack of insurance caused Mount Vernon's insurance 

policy with Taylor Bean to become effective.' CP 1989 at,-r 6. Upon learning 

that Safeco had denied coverage for the fire that destroyed Johnson's home, 

Taylor Bean referred Johnson to Mount Vernon for coverage. CP 1989 at ,-r 

6. After the fire, Taylor Bean charged Johnson at least $2,877 a year for this 

insurance coverage from Mount Vernon. CP 189-190 at ,-r 20; CP 406-408, 

see also CP 1056-1057. 

Mount Vernon's Insurance policy contract with Taylor Bean 

provided coverage to the homeowner (Johnson) for the cost of repairing the 

structure, the damage to personal property, and the cost of any additional 

living expenses due to the fire. CP 259, 261. It is undisputed that Johnson 

was a beneficiary of the Mount Vernon policy and was insured for the fire 

damage. See CP 322 at line 3, VRP 51 at lines 5-12. 

1 Mount Vernon is a subsidiary of United States Liability Insurance Group and 
was sometimes referred to by its staff as USLI. See CP 196-7. 
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At the time of the fire, Johnson had very little income. CP 1992 at ~ 

18; CP 119-120 at ~ 10. For 15 years he had been self-employed as a 

contractor doing specialized work at trade shows. CP 1992 at ~ 18. But that 

work had become infrequent in the years leading up to the fire. Id. Johnson 

was also struggling to make payments on two mortgages. !d. at ~ 19. In 

addition to the mortgage on the home that was destroyed by the fire, around 

2008 he inherited his mother's house and the corresponding mortgage. See 

CP 1992 at ~ 18-19 and CP 482-483 at pages 5-7. 

Johnson had lived in the house that was destroyed for 25 years. See 

CP 1991 at ~ 17. Most of his personal belongings were lost in the fire. See id 

Johnson needed the help of his insurance companies to pay him for the 

repairs to the structure and for the cost of living somewhere else while he 

waited for the repairs to be completed. CP 119-20 at ~ 8-13. 

C Mount Vernon Adjusts Johnson's Claim, But Wrongfully 
Refuses to Pay Johnson While It Argues with Safeco about 
the Cost of Repairs 

Mount Vernon assigned three "adjusters" to handle Johnson's claim. 

Tony Brown was an independent adjuster located in Washington and 

employed by Cunningham Lindsey. CP 296-300. He was hired by Mount 

Vernon to adjust Johnson's claim. Id. Brown investigated the loss and was 

responsible for communicating with Johnson. CP 298-301; CP 1048 at lines 

21-25. Maureen Connor was a Mount Vernon employee located in 
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Pennsylvania who gave directions to Brown. See CP 295-99; CP 1048 at 

lines 21-25 . James Ziff was Connor's supervisor. CP 823 at ~ 1. 

Although Brown was responsible for meeting with Johnson and 

communicating with Johnson about his claim, Brown had no knowledge of 

Mount Vernon's coverage positions and had no authority to discuss coverage 

issues or policy restrictions with Johnson. CP 301, see also 1174-75 at lines 

23-4. 

Brown inspected the damage and met with Johnson at the site of the 

fire on February 6, 2009. See CP 323 at ~ 1-2. On February 23, 2009, one 

month after the fire, Brown prepared an estimate of the cost to repair the fire 

damage. CP 323 at ~ 2. Two days later, Mount Vernon sent Johnson a 

payment for the full amount of that cost. CP 323 (February 25 note). But it 

did not honor this payment. 

On March 4,2009, Mount Vernon learned that Safeco's policy might 

also have been effective at the time of the fire. CP 324 at ~ 2. As a result, 

Mount Vernon immediately cancelled its payment to Johnson for the 

structure repairs. CP 324 at ~ 3. On April 27, 2009, Mount Vernon's 

independent adjuster, Brown, tendered Johnson's insurance claim to Safeco. 

CP 326 at ~ 1. 
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1. Mount Vernon Convinces Safeco to Share 
Liability for the Structure 

After being contacted by Mount Vernon, Safeco agreed to pay for 

part of the cost to repair the structure. CP 326 at,-r 3. Safeco took the position 

that "coverage [was] extended for the mortgagee interest only" and that no 

contract was effective with Johnson at the time of the fire. CP 327 (June 12 

note). Therefore, Safeco agreed to pay for the "structure only and will not 

include contents or ALE" coverage. Id. 

It is unclear why Mount Vernon's involvement caused Safeco to 

change its position. If Safeco believed it had an obligation to cover the 

structure damage, but not the personal property and ALE, it should have 

agreed to pay for the structure repairs when Johnson called them 

immediately after the fire. Safeco has not offered any explanation for this 

inconsistency. 

2. Mount Vernon Refuses to Pay Johnson Any 
Money for Structure Repairs Until Nine Months 
after the Fire 

A dispute arose between Mount Vernon and Safeco concerning how 

much repairing the house would cost. CP 307-308. On May 27, 2009, 

Connor told Johnson that the cost for the structure repair was "being handled 

by us and Safeco." CP 307; CP 328 at ,-r 1. Brown did not agree with 

Safeco's estimate and this dispute lasted until October 8, 2009. CP 307-09, 
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318. As a result, and after canceling its initial payment, Mount Vernon 

refused to make any payment at all for the structure repairs until October of 

2009. CP 318. This was nine months after the fire. 

D. Mount Vernon Fails to Disclose a Restriction on the 
Coverage for Additional Living Expenses 

Like other homeowner insurance policies, the Mount Vernon policy 

provided coverage for the additional living expenses (ALE) incurred by a 

homeowner in order to maintain his or her normal standard of living. CP 261 

at D.l. Such ALE would include renting another house while awaiting the 

repair of the damaged house. See id. 

Immediately after the fire, Johnson told Brown that he had moved 

into his own rental property rather than a rental home owned by another 

landlord. CP 1190 at line 2. Connor noted that Johnson "has a rental property 

in the area which he is using to mitigate his exposure (ALE)." CP 323 

(February 24 note). Brown told Johnson that it was fine to live in his own 

rental property. CP 1190 at line 3; see also CP 1174. 

But Mount Vernon changed its position when Johnson asked why he 

had not received any ALE payments. CP 328 at,-r 1. On May 27,2009, four 

months after the fire, Mount Vernon told Johnson that it would not 

compensate him for the cost of living in his own rental property. ld. Mount 

Vernon took the position that living in his own rental property, rather than a 
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rental property owned by someone else, did not constitute an increase in 

expenses under the policy language. CP 328 at ~ 5? 

All three of Mount Vernon's adjusters, Connor, Brown and Ziff, 

testified that Johnson was wrongfully allowed to believe that he would be 

compensated for the cost of living in his own rental home. CP 1048, 1174, 

1179-81. This result was inevitable because Brown, the only person 

responsible for meeting and communicating with Johnson, had no authority 

to discuss the parameters of coverage with Johnson. CP 301, 1174-75. 

1. Johnson Accuses Mount Vernon of 
Misrepresenting the Coverage Restriction 

Johnson informed Mount Vernon that his rental home cost him about 

$1,800 month. CP 1477. He explained that this number was based on his 

monthly mortgage payment. CP 329 at ~ 1. When Mount Vernon refused to 

pay Johnson any money for his additional living expenses, Johnson accused 

Mount Vernon of "misrepresenting" the policy provisions. Id. 

As a result, on May 29, 2009, Ziff intervened and agreed to pay 

Johnson $1,250 a month for additional living expenses. Id. at ~ 5. Ziff noted 

that "we will owe more." Id. 

2 This is in spite of the fact that, due to his occupancy of it, Johnson was 
necessarily unable to rent the residence in which he was staying. 
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2. After Mount Vernon Agrees to Pay $1,250 a 
Month for Additional Living Expenses it Refuses 
to Honor that Agreement 

After Ziff agreed to pay Johnson $1,250 a month for additional living 

expenses, Mount Vernon never made another ALE payment. Months passed 

and Johnson continued to wait for Mount Vernon's payment for the structure 

and the ALE, as promised. See CP 379 at,-r 1; CP 382 at,-r 2. When Johnson 

asked Ziff for the unpaid ALE on September 21, 2009, Ziff simply refused to 

pay him any money at all for ALE. CP 332 at,-r 2. Ziff accused Johnson of 

being non-responsive and delaying the repair of his house. Id. But Ziffs 

accusations were not well-founded. 

It is true that, after Johnson had accused Mount Vernon of 

misrepresenting the policy terms, Johnson did not return three of Brown's 

phone calls.3 Ziff asserted that this had delayed the structure claim. CP 332 

at,-r 2. But Brown testified that Johnson never failed to cooperate and that 

Johnson's three missed phone calls actually did nothing at all to delay the 

resolution of the structure claim. CP 356, 361; see also CP 309, 358. Zitrs 

belief that Johnson had been non-responsive was actually due to a 

communication breakdown between Brown and Connor. CP 316-17; see 

3 Brown left voicemails for Johnson on June 12, June 29 and July 10, 2009. 
Johnson called Brown on August 5, 2009. CP 1458-59 (Brown's log notes, see CP 
1353 at,-r 2). 
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also CP 311-14. In fact, due to that communication breakdown, Connor had 

planned on closing Johnson's file without paying Johnson any money for the 

structure repairs. Id. 

E. Johnson's Financial Situation is Dire and He Retains Legal 
Counsel and a Public Adjuster to Assist with His Claim 

Throughout the claim, Johnson had minimal income and was in 

desperate need of money. See CP 1992 at ~ 18-20. Johnson had largely 

exhausted his retirement account and could not afford his increased cost of 

living as a result of the fire. Id Due to Mount Vernon's delays, Jolmson was 

forced to seek assistance from the Department of Social and Health Services 

just to buy food to survive. Id. 

In October 2009, after Ziff had explicitly refused to pay any more 

ALE money, Johnson retained a public adjuster and attorneys to assist him 

with his claim. CP 1991 at ~ 16. 

F. Ten Months after the Fire, Johnson Creates a False Written 
Lease in a Desperate Attempt to Persuade Mount Vernon to 
Pay What It Owed to Him 

It is undisputed that in 2008 and around the time of the fire, Johnson 

had tenants living in one of the two units in his rental house. CP 1189-90. 

The tenants' names were Dean Peter Little and Yvonne Calizar. Id. Little 

and Calizar did not sign a written lease with Johnson, so there was no record 

of them renting from him. Id. 
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Desperate for funds just to survive, Johnson arrived at the misguided 

belief that Mount Vernon would finally pay him for his additional living 

expenses if only he could produce a written lease. This belief was the result 

of his conversations with Ziff and Connor. Specifically, Ziff told him that 

Mount Vernon was not obligated to pay him any money for ALE because 

"You didn't have it rented, and you didn't document that you could have had 

it rented." CP 1170 at line 10. On May 27,2009, Connor infonned him that 

his rental home did not appear to be covered because "there is no way for 

him to prove the rental would have been occupied by paying tenants" and 

"there was no lease/agreement that was cancelled due to the loss." CP 328 at 

,; 7-8. It is unclear why Ziff and Connor were fixated on whether Johnson 

could provide proof of renters. On September 21, 2009, Ziff explicitly 

refused to pay him any money for ALE. CP 332 at,; 2. 

As a result of Ziff and Connor's statements and Mount Vernon's 

continued refusal to pay what it owed, sometime around November 2009 

(about 10 months after the fire), Johnson fabricated a written lease to prove 

that Little and Calizar had lived in the rental home. CP 832-33; see also CP 

385-86. Johnson did this without the knowledge of his attorneys. The lease 

incorrectly stated that Little and Calizar had rented the whole property for 

$1,800 per month. CP 832. In fact, they had only rented the downstairs part 

of the house for $750. CP 1190 at ,; 3. The written lease also contained 

15

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