68029-3

.

68029.3

### NO. 68029-3 I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

#### JOEL JOHNSON,

Appellant,

VS.

#### SAFECO INSURANCE and MOUNT VERNON FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondents.

### MOUNT VERNON FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY BRIEF

Joseph D. Hampton, WSBA #15297 Jeffrey S. Tindal, WSBA #29286 Betts, Patterson & Mines, P.S. Attorneys for Respondent Mount Vernon Fire Insurance Company One Convention Place, Suite 1400 701 Pike Street Seattle, WA 98101-3927 (206) 292-9988



## **

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review of CR 50 Motion

CR 50 provides a means for a trial court to expedite a decision on the merits and render a decision in a jury trial when there is clearly no issue of fact for the jury to consider. CR 50 motions may be brought at any time before the case is submitted to the jury. CR 50 (a)(2); *Mega v. Whitworth College*, 138 Wn. App. 661, 668, 158 P.3d 1211 (2007).

Appellate courts review CR 50 motions using the same standard as the trial court. *Sing v. John L. Scott, Inc.*, 134 Wn.2d 24, 29, 948 P.2d 816 (1997). In ruling on such a motion, the trial court must accept the truth of the opponent's evidence and all inferences that can reasonably be drawn from it. *Queen City Farms, Inc. v. Central Nat'l Ins. Co.,* 126 Wn.2d 50, 98, 882 P.2d 703 (1994). "Granting a motion for judgment as a matter of law is appropriate when, viewing the evidence most favorable to the nonmoving party, the court can say, as a matter of law, there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inference to sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party." *Sing*, 134 Wn.2d at 29, 948 P.2d 816. Thus, if no justifiable evidence exists on which reasonable minds might reach conclusions consistent with the verdict, the issue is not appropriate for a jury. *Queen City Farms*, 126 Wn.2d at 98.

### B. Mutual of Enumclaw v. Cox and Its Progeny Bar Johnson's Extra-Contractual Recovery Given His Intentional Material Misrepresentations Made to Mt. Vernon

A long line of Washington cases has held that an insured who lies to his insurance company about material facts is not entitled to coverage or any extra-contractual recovery. The first such modern case is *Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Cox*, 110 Wn.2d 643 (1988). Mutual of Enumclaw ("MOE") insured a home owned by Dr. Cox, which was destroyed by fire. Dr. Cox claimed that the contents of the home were worth far in excess of the policy's contents limits (\$324,420 versus \$137,000). Id. at 645-46. Dr. Cox submitted a contents claim that listed several items that should have been found when technicians sifted through the burnt home's rubble, such as bronze statues, jewelry, and other items that would not be completely destroyed by fire. *Id.* at 648.

MOE sued for declaratory relief that it should not have to pay any benefits under the policy, on account of its "void for fraud" clause. Dr. Cox asserted counterclaims alleging that MOE, in processing his claim, dealt in bad faith and committed numerous unfair and deceptive practices and violations of RCW 48.01.030, RCW 48.30.010, WAC 284-30-300, *et seq.*, and RCW 19-86.020. *Id.* at 646-47. One bad faith allegation was that MOE induced Dr. Cox's fraud because it did not assist him in filling out his inventory list of unscheduled personal property which contained the misrepresentations that formed the basis of MOE's coverage denial. *Id.* at 650.

The case went to trial, and the jury found, on the verdict form, that Dr. Cox committed fraud or false swearing, and then went on to find for Dr. Cox on his claims for estoppel, bad faith, and other theories. *Id.* at 647-8. The trial court entered judgment notwithstanding the verdict on the estoppel claim. *Id.* at 648. On direct appeal to the Washington Supreme Court, judgment for MOE was entered. This was because <u>first</u>, the void for fraud clause affected all coverages in the policy and therefore Dr. Cox was entitled to no contractual recovery at all, <u>second</u>, Dr. Cox – having committed fraud – had unclean hands and therefore could not seek the

equitable remedy of estoppel, and <u>third</u>, Dr. Cox was not entitled to recover on his extra-contractual claims.

Importantly, the *Cox* court made these rulings notwithstanding a jury finding in Dr. Cox's favor on estoppel, contractual damages, and CPA and WAC violations. Next, it is also important to note that the court adopted a broad construction of "material" for purposes of insurance claims; the court rejected the notion that since the value of the property far exceeded the limits, the fraud in claiming lost items that were not indeed lost was immaterial. Rather, the court said that "dishonesty by insureds cannot be ignored." *Id.* at 649. Finally, the court ruled that proving prejudice to the insurer was not required.

MOE v. Cox has become the basis for Washington's anti-fraud jurisprudence. In Onyon v. Truck Ins. Exch., 859 F. Supp. 1338 (W.D. Wash. 1994), the court held that materiality of the misrepresentation may be determined as a matter of law; and a misrepresentation is material if a reasonable insurance company would attach importance to it. Id. at 1341. That court also said that failing to disclose information is a misrepresentation as well. Like the court in Cox, the Onyon court denied the insured any recovery, dismissing the case on summary judgment.

In Wickswat v. Safeco Ins. Co., 78 Wn. App. 958, 904 P.2d 767 (1995), the insured claimed that his model train collection had been stolen.

The jury found that there had indeed been a theft, but also that the insured had "misrepresented material facts during the course of the claim." *Id.* at 966. The verdict form instructed the jury to stop deliberating if it found that the insured had made material misrepresentations. *Id.* The Court of Appeals held that the verdict form – instructing the jury to stop deliberating if it found misrepresentation – was correctly given pursuant to *MOE v. Cox.* After exhaustively discussing *Cox*, the court said:

The factual scenario provided in *Cox* is nearly identical to the present case. In particular, in both cases there was evidence that the insured attempted to defraud its insurer during the claims process. Accordingly, based on the clear holding in *Cox*, we find that the trial court in this case correctly directed the jury not to consider Wickswat's bad faith and CPA violation claims if it found that he intentionally misrepresented or concealed material facts during the claims process. Indeed, the trial court's verdict form reflects an approach consistent with *Cox*.

Id. at 971. Three years later, the Court of Appeals made a similar ruling in

Tornetta v. Allstate Ins. Co., 94 Wn. App. 803, 973 P.2d 8 (1999), holding

that misrepresentations by the insured negated his rights under the

contract, and his claims under the CPA and for bad faith.

The recent case Kim v. Allstate Ins. Co., 153 Wn. App. 339, 223

P.3d 1180 (2010), is the latest statement of our courts' distaste for

insurance fraud. There, as here, the insured made misrepresentations to the

insurer in the course of the insurer's adjustment of the claim, and there

was no question about the falsity of the statements. So, the court focused on materiality of the misrepresentations. The court's discussion on materiality merits quoting at length:

The key question here is whether Kim's misrepresentations were material. A misrepresentation is material if it involves a fact that is relevant to the claim or the investigation of a claim. While materiality is generally a mixed question of law and fact, we may decide the issue as a matter of law "'if reasonable minds could not differ on the question." ...

Materiality is determined from the standpoint of the insurer, not the insured. A misrepresentation is material "'if a reasonable insurance company, in determining its course of action, would attach importance to the fact misrepresented." [citing cases] (restating the standard as "'the materiality requirement is satisfied if the false statement concerns a subject relevant and germane to the insurer's investigation as it was then proceeding."")....

In order to avoid liability based on a material misrepresentation, the insurance company must demonstrate that the insured knowingly made the untrue representations and that, in making those representations, the applicant intended to deceive the company. **But if an** *insured knowingly makes a false statement, courts will presume that the insured intended to deceive the insurance company*. If the insured knowingly made a false statement, the burden shifts to the insured to establish an honest motive or an innocent intent. The insured's bare assertion that she did not intend to deceive the insurance company is not credible evidence of good faith and, in the absence of evidence of good faith, the presumption warrants a finding in favor of the insurance company.

When an insured intentionally makes material misrepresentations regarding a claim for insurance coverage, any claim by the insured against the insurance company for bad faith and CPA violations must fail. *Id.* at 354-6 (emphasis added). It is also important to remember that an insurer need not be prejudiced by the insured's misrepresentation; materiality alone is required. *Cox*, 110 Wn.2d at 648-9; *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Huston*, 123 Wn. App. 530, 540, 94 P.3d 358 (2004). The foregoing is a current, comprehensive statement of the rules this court must apply to this case in its appellate review. When we do so, the conclusion that the trial court's dismissal of Johnson's extra-contractual claims against Mt. Vernon was proper is inescapable.

### C. There Is No Substantial Evidence or Reasonable Inference in the Record to Sustain a Verdict for Johnson Given His Admitted Fraud

Taking into consideration all of the evidence in the record before the Court, there is no factual issue for a jury to consider. As a result, the trial court's dismissal pursuant to CR 50 was proper.

# 1. Johnson admits making several misrepresentations of fact

Johnson submitted a written lease to Mt. Vernon in November 2009 in order to obtain additional ALE proceeds he alleged were owed under the Policy. CP 775; 810-12; 814-15. Johnson confirmed the genuineness of the written lease at his deposition. CP 495-96. Additionally, Johnson confirmed at his deposition that (1) his renters were

named Pete and Evon Little; (2) the lease ran from May 15, 2008 to

sometime in December 2008; (3) the Littles rented the 2,500 square foot main portion of the Rental Home; and (4) paid \$1,800 per month in rent.

Following Johnson's deposition, Johnson's fraud was discovered when Mt. Vernon obtained a declaration from Elizabeth McDougall, the president of Washington Legal Blank, the company that produced the lease forms that Johnson used. CP 829-35. In her declaration, Ms. McDougall testified that the second page of Johnson's purported lease was not made available to the public until sometime in 2009, which made the execution date of the alleged lease, May 15, 2008, impossible to have occurred when Johnson testified it did. *Id*.

In his responsive pleading dated September 12, 2011, Johnson did not deny the written lease was a fake. Instead, he attempted to preclude Mt. Vernon from relying on a fraud/misrepresentation defense because it was untimely and caused him prejudice. CP 836-44. On September 30, 2011, however, Johnson's counsel conceded that his client fabricated a counterfeit lease document, which was submitted to Mt. Vernon in support of his ALE claim and now argued that Johnson had an oral lease. CP 971. But Johnson's counsel insinuated that the terms (rent amount, period of tenancy, portion of the premises rented) was true. CP 987 at ¶ 16.

That same day, Johnson's counsel disclosed to Mt. Vernon's counsel the true names of the two persons who Johnson alleged leased the

Seattle rental house from him – "Dean Little" and "Yvonne Mokihana Calizar," another misrepresentation by Johnson. CP 1870. Finally given the real names of his alleged tenants, Mt. Vernon found Mr. Little and Ms. Calizar three days later – and just a week before trial. CP 1817-21.

On October 6, 2011, Mr. Little provided his affidavit, which confirmed that Johnson had not only lied about the existence of the written lease and the names of the renters, but also about important terms of the lease. CP 1809-10. Mr. Little testified that he and his wife did not sign a written lease, but they rented the small basement apartment from May 2008 to March 2009 for \$750 per month – all of which contradicted Johnson's sworn testimony:

#### The Fake Lease (Oral or Written)

- The Littles rented the upstairs, 2,500 square foot portion of the Rental Home
- The Littles paid \$1,800 per month in rent to Johnson
- The Littles moved into the upstairs in May 2008, and moved out in December 2008

#### The Real Agreement

- The Littles rented the downstairs or basement apartment
- The Littles paid \$750 per month in rent to Johnson
- The Littles moved into the downstairs in May 2008, and moved out in March 2009

Following submission of Mr. Little's affidavit, Johnson admitted in

his Reply Brief in Support of his Motions in Limine that his prior

statement that there was no evidence the forged lease misrepresented the

terms of the oral lease with the Littles was incorrect and that he

misrepresented several terms of the oral lease. CP 1996-97. Johnson, however, did not provide any competent testimony that rebutted Mr. Little's affidavit.

.

The record before the Court reflects that Johnson's numerous misrepresentations are either undisputed or admitted by Johnson. Importantly, the testimony of Ms. McDougall and Mr. Little have never been rebutted by Johnson – namely that the written lease submitted to Mt. Vernon was forged and contained false terms.

# 2. Johnson's misrepresentations were material and he does not argue otherwise

A misrepresentation is material if it involves a fact that is relevant to the claim or the investigation of a claim from the perspective of the insurer. *Onyon*, 859 F. Supp. at 1341. Materiality is determined from the standpoint of the insurer and not the insured. *Id.* at 1342. In this instance, Johnson's lies were clearly material to Mt. Vernon's claim investigation as the counterfeit lease containing several false terms was submitted in order to obtain additional ALE benefits. Johnson demanded \$1,800 per month for ALE coverage and he and his attorneys submitted the fake lease as evidence of the same. CP 810-16. The lease was clearly material to Mt. Vernon's claim investigation as it related to Johnson's ALE claim and Johnson has not raised materiality of his misrepresentations as an issue on appeal; thus, this Court must find that they were.

# 3. Johnson's misrepresentations were intentional and he does not argue otherwise

Misrepresentations made by an insured are presumed to be made with an intent to deceive. *Kim v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 153 Wn. App. 339, 355, 223 P.3d 1180 (2010). Here, there is no dispute that Johnson's misrepresentations were made intentionally as he or his attorney have admitted the same. CP 971; 987; 1996-2006. A lawyer's actions are binding upon the client. *Rivers v. Washington State Conf. of Mason Contractors*, 145 Wn.2d 674, 679, 41 P.3d 1175 (2002). Again, Johnson has not raised the intentionality of his misrepresentations as an issue on appeal; thus, this Court must find that they were.

# 4. Johnson's expert testifies that Johnson's actions were fraudulent

Before Mt. Vernon uncovered the extent of Johnson's fraud, his "claims handling bad faith" expert, Gary Williams, provided prophetic testimony at his deposition that Johnson's actions amounted to insurance fraud:

- Q. Well, let's assume -
- A. If it's done with intent to get more money on the ALE claim than he deserves, then it's fraud. If it's not done with that intent, then it's not.

- Q Let's assume there was a dispute over whether he should be paid, like \$1250 a month versus \$1800 a month and the insurance company representative said, "We don't think it's costing you \$1800 a month. Can you give us some documentation to show that you are foregoing rent in the amount of \$1800 a month to live there," *is it fraud for him to go back then and create a lease that didn't exist in the first place and submit it to the insurance company?*
- A. It is if he is intentionally trying to collect more money than his claim should be. If he was renting it to Mr. Little for \$1250 a month instead of \$1850 a month and he says in this writing it was \$1850 a month, that's one thing. If he was renting it to Mr. Little for \$1850 a month and believes he was supposed to come up with some paperwork, that's not.
- Q. What if he was not renting it to anybody?
- A. That would not be good for Mr. Johnson.
- Q. What if he was renting it for a thousand dollars a month?
- A. Then he would be misstating the amount of rent that he was receiving.

CP 1243-45. So, according to his own expert witness, Johnson has committed fraud in claiming that he was renting the upstairs to his tenants for \$1,800 per month, when in fact, he was renting the smaller basement apartment to his tenants for \$750 per month.

#### D. Johnson's Argument that *Mut. of Enumclaw v. Cox* Does Not Apply When an Insurer Violates the CPA or Acts in Bad Faith Prior to a Misrepresentation Is Without Merit

Johnson argues that the holding in *Mut. of Enumclaw v. Cox* is inapplicable where an insured alleges bad faith conduct on behalf of an insurer that precedes the misrepresentation. This argument is wholly without merit.

## 1. Dr. Cox alleged that MOE acted in bad faith prior to his misrepresentations and it made no difference

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